

ALTERNATIVES ASSESSMENT CONSIDERATIONS FOR THE ANALYSIS OF ENGINEERED NANOMATERIALS

2023



A White Paper authored by the Sustainable Chemistry Catalyst of the Lowell Center for Sustainable Production at UMass Lowell.

www.sustainablechemistrycatalyst.org

AUTHORS

Aude Bechu and Molly Jacobs from the Sustainable Chemistry Catalyst at UMass Lowell.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The Sustainable Chemistry Catalyst is grateful to the following who provided review and comments on an early draft of this white paper:

- Saskia van Bergen, Marissa Smith, Rae Eaton and Sean Zigah, Washington State Department of Ecology
- Andres Baun, Technical University of Denmark
- Steffen Hansen, Technical University of Denmark
- Lauren Heine
- Colleen McLoughlin, Enhesa
- Treye Thomas, U.S. Consumer Products Safety Commission
- Margaret Whittaker, ToxServices

This work was funded in part by the United States Environmental Protection Agency under assistance agreement PC-01J95801 to the Washington State Department of Ecology. The contents of this report do not necessarily reflect the views and policies of the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, nor does mention of trade names or commercial products constitute endorsement or recommendation for use.

ABOUT

The Sustainable Chemistry Catalyst is an independent research and strategy initiative, based at the Lowell Center for Sustainable Production within UMass Lowell, that is focused on accelerating the transition to safer, more sustainable chemistry through research and analysis and stakeholder engagement with scientists, policymakers, and commercial actors.

Sustainable Chemistry Catalyst

University of Massachusetts Lowell Lowell Center for Sustainable Production 600 Suffolk Street, Lowell, MA 01854 (978) 934-2997 www.sustainablechemistrycatalyst.org | www.uml.edu

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	1
INTRODUCTION	2
BACKGROUND: ENGINEERED NANOMATERIALS – WHAT ARE THEY?	3
CONSIDERATIONS FOR THE EVALUATION OF ENGINEERED NANOMATERIALS IN	
ALTERNATIVES ASSESSMENT	5
A. Identification of Alternatives	5
B. Hazard	8
C. Exposure Assessment	15
D. Life Cycle Considerations	16
Conclusion	17
APPENDIX 1: LITERATURE REVIEW OF ENGINEERED NANOMATERIAL	
CONSIDERATIONS IN SAFETY AND SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS 1	18
A. Identification of Alternatives	18
B. Hazard Assessment	21
C. Exposure Assessment	27
D. Life Cycle Assessment	30
APPENDIX II: PHYSICOCHEMICAL PROPERTY DESCRIPTIONS (REPRODUCED FROM	r
ECHA 2019)	33

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

CAS RNs	Chemical Abstract Service Registry Numbers
CBI	Classified Business Information
CNTs	Carbon nanotubes
ЕСНА	European Chemical Agency
EFSA	European Food Safety Authority
ENM	Engineered nanomaterials
EPA	U.S. Environmental Protection Agency
EUSES	European Union System for the Evaluation of Substances
GHS	Globally Harmonized System of Classification and Labelling of Chemicals
GLP	Good laboratory practices
IC2 Guide	Interstate Chemicals Clearinghouse's (IC2) Alternatives Assessment Guide
ISO	International Standards Organization
JRC	Joint Research Council
LCA	Life Cycle Assessment
LCI	Life Cycle Inventory
LCT	Life cycle thinking
MWCNT	Multiwalled carbon nanotubes
NAMs	New Approach Methods
OECD	Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development
PFAS	Per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances
QSAR	Quantitative Structure Activity Relationships
REACH	Registration, Evaluation and Authorization of Chemicals
RSL	Restricted Substances List
SCCS	European Commission's Scientific Committee on Consumer Safety
SbD	Safe by Design
SDS	Safety data sheet
TiO ₂	Titanium Dioxide
TSCA	Toxic Substances Control Act
WHO	World Health Organization

INTRODUCTION

Mitigating the impact of toxic chemicals on human health and the environment requires an informed transition to safer alternative chemicals, materials, and technologies. Alternatives assessment is a multi-disciplinary approach to support informed substitution and is defined as a "process for identifying and comparing potential chemical and non-chemical alternatives that could replace chemicals of concern on the basis of their hazards, performance, and economic viability" (National Research Council, 2014). To date, these approaches have been primarily used to support the transition to safer chemicals and processes. However, they were not designed to fully capture emerging chemicals/materials of concern, namely engineered nanomaterials (ENMs).

Because ENMs offer superior functionality in a range of applications, they are now emerging (in development or commercially available) as replacements for functions currently being served by chemicals of concern. Examples include:

- Multi-walled carbon nanotubes (MWCNTs) as replacements for halogenated flame retardants (Araby et al., 2021)
- Nanowhiskers as a replacement for per- and polyfluroralkyl substances (PFAS) in stain resistant textiles and carpets (NanoTex, n.d.)
- Organosilicates as replacements for PFAS surfactants in aqueous film forming foams (Davis, 2022)
- Polymer nanocomposites as replacements for phthalate plasticizers (TDA Research, 2017)

ENMs are demonstrating beneficial performance attributes, but a lack of guidance regarding how these materials should be assessed regarding their hazards and intrinsic exposure potential across their life cycles has stymied evaluations in alternatives assessment.

The Sustainable Chemistry Catalyst at UMass Lowell was asked by the Washington State Department of Ecology to explore considerations for evaluating ENMs and microplastics in the context of alternatives assessment processes. The first section of this White Paper provides an overview of key background concepts for thinking about ENMs, especially in comparison to conventional chemicals. The second section outlines considerations for addressing ENMs in alternatives assessments. These considerations were developed using the Interstate Chemicals Clearinghouse's Alternatives Assessment Guide (Version 1.1) (IC2 Guide) as a alternatives assessment framework model using those modules focused on: (a) identifying potential alternatives, (b) hazard assessment, (c) comparative exposure assessment, and (c) life cycle impacts. As such, these considerations for the evaluation of ENMs in alternatives assessment are also applicable to other guidance documents. The last section of this White Paper, APPENDIX I, provides a detailed review of the literature pertaining to the evaluation of ENMs. Considerations for the evaluation of alternatives assessment were derived from this comprehensive literature review. Although placed in an appendix, this literature review outlines key methodological developments regarding the assessment of potential human and environmental impacts associated with ENMs. The review focuses on methodologies that are aligned with approaches used for alternatives assessments, including risk assessment and life cycle assessment. The review is recommended for any reader needing additional background to better understand the rationale for the considerations outlined.

BACKGROUND: ENGINEERED NANOMATERIALS – WHAT ARE THEY?

Over the past two decades, ENMs have garnered significant attention for their potentially beneficial applications in medicine, industrial processes, and consumer products due to their advantageous physicochemical properties. ENMs can be solid, liquid, or gaseous substances and are defined by ISO as *materials in any external dimension in the nanoscale or with an internal surface structure at the nanoscale, which is 1 to 100 nanometers* (ISO, 2008). Although nanomaterials can occur naturally (such as carbon nanotubes emitted from volcanic eruptions), nanomaterials are being engineered to maximize functional advantages associated with their unique physicochemical properties.

At the nanoscale, fundamental mechanical, electrical, optical, and other properties of ENMs can significantly differ from their bulk material counterparts. ENMs composition can vary - from quantum dots, fullerenes, carbon nanotubes, oxides (e.g., titanium dioxide, iron oxide), metals (e.g., gold, silver), to organic structures like dendrimers and cellulose (Janković & Plata, 2019).

ENMs syntheses can be tuned to produce materials with specific surface areas, surface reactivities, chemical coatings, shapes, and sizes. These novel physicochemical properties have provided the basis for ENMs to offer a range of benefits in numerous industrial applications. The global market for ENMs is expected to reach \$38 billion by 2029 after a decade of robust growth at a compound annual growth rate (CAGR) of 17.8% (ECHA, 2022c). As shown in **FIGURE 1**, ENMs are being developed and deployed in a variety of industry sectors and applications.

Depending on the regulatory context, assessment of the safety of ENMs may or may not be treated different than bulk chemicals. For example, the European Chemicals Agency (ECHA's) REACH regulation (Registration, Evaluation and Authorization of Chemicals) outlines specific requirements for ENMs, while U.S. EPA's Toxic Substance Control Act (TSCA) does not outline ENM-specific obligations for manufacturers.





Inherent Hazard and Exposure Concerns of ENMs

Concern regarding the health and safety of ENMs emerged in tandem with the growth of the technology. Many of the same physicochemical properties that make ENMs technologically and commercially desirable are the same properties that can make them more toxic than the same substance of a larger size.

Decades of particle toxicology research have established that particle size influences hazard. The intrinsic exposure potential of unbound, un-agglomerated ENMs via inhalation, ingestion, and dermal exposure is significant given their extremely small size.

- Particles of less than 10µm can be inhaled and cause exposure to the lung (SCCS, 2023a).
- Particles can be tuned to enter the surface layers of skin through hair, sweat, and other glands (Krishnan & Mitragotri, 2020).
- Ingested particles that have a slow dissolution rate may maintain their nano-specific activity (e.g., antimicrobial) that leads to adverse impacts in the GI tract or other organs (Di Cristo et al., 2021).
- Once inside the body ENMs can continue to redistribute, including having the potential to cross the blood brain barrier (Guo et al., 2021).
- ENMs also distribute in the environment due to their ability to remain suspended in air and water (Hochella Jr et al., 2019).

BOX 1: According to the European Commission's Scientific Committee on Consumer Safety (SCCS), certain physicochemical and toxicological properties as well as uses of ENMs are linked to a higher degree of safety concern (Bernauer et al., 2021). These properties include (Bernauer et al., 2021):

- "The ENM has constituent particles that have sizes in the lower range of the nanoscale (1-100 nm).
- The ENM is insoluble, or only partially soluble.
- The chemical nature of the ENM suggests the potential for a toxicological hazard.
- The ENM has certain physical/morphological features (e.g., needle shape, rigid long fibres) that point to potential for harmful effects.
- The ENM has surface reactivity in terms of catalytic (including photocatalytic) activity, potential for radical formation, or other surface properties (e.g., that can enhance cellular uptake, or confer allergenicity due to proteinaceous surface).
- The ENM has a different biokinetic behavior than the conventional equivalent. For example, on the surface a
 modification/coating (e.g., hydrophobic coatings, encapsulation) has been applied to the core nanoparticle to alter their
 ADME (absorption, distribution, metabolism, elimination) properties and as a result make them more accessible
 systemically or enable them to reach different tissues compared to the neat nanoparticles and/ or their conventional
 chemical forms.
- The ENM is used as vehicle to carry other substances which have not been assessed for safety as individual components, or together in the nano-scale entity,
- There is evidence for persistence/accumulation of the ENM in the body.
- Nanoparticles have other distinctive properties not present in conventional form of the same material or a new activity/function (e.g., a smart/functional nanomaterial).
- The ENM is so novel that it does not have a conventional comparator to allow assessment of changes in properties, behavior, or effects.
- The assessment of genotoxicity is inadequate, e.g., in vitro studies are without information on stability of the test suspension, or evidence of cell exposure (internalization)."

The following exposure considerations were also mentioned as certain uses of ENMs can lead to increased safety concerns (Bernauer et al., 2021):

- "There is a likelihood of systemic exposure of the consumer to nanoparticles through the use of final products, especially those that may alter surface characteristics of the nanoparticles and thereby enhance their absorption in the skin (skin penetration).
- The frequency of use, and/or the amounts of the consumer product are relatively high.
- The ENM is used in a product is inhalable and the particles are respirable (can reach respiratory epithelium/ alveoli)."

CONSIDERATIONS FOR THE EVALUATION OF ENGINEERED NANOMATERIALS IN ALTERNATIVES ASSESSMENT

This section outlines specific considerations to advance assessment of ENMs in alternatives assessments based on applying current knowledge, tools, and resources that have emerged over the last decade as reviewed in **APPENDIX I**. Recommendations were developed using the IC2 Guide as a model framework although are generalizable to other frameworks given direct overlap in the assessment steps/mode. Recommendations address four assessment modules:

- A. Identification of alternatives
- B. Hazard assessment
- C. Exposure assessment
- D. Life cycle consideration

These recommendations reflect differences in assessment methods and practices that will be needed for ENMs in the modules as compared to conventional chemicals. Other primary modules of an alternatives assessment, including assessments of performance and cost/availability were not determined to have specific adaptation needs for ENM-based alternatives.

Although this document utilizes the format and content of the IC2 Guide, the following recommended adaptations are generalizable to other frameworks given direct overlap in the assessment steps/modules.

The recommendations below focus only where adaptation in alternatives assessment methods is needed for the evaluation of ENMs. Specific challenges envisioned in the operationalizing of these considerations are noted where applicable. Also noted where applicable is the need for expert judgment for the assessment of ENMs as certain considerations require a high level of technical expertise. However, this expertise is no different than what is already needed when assessing hazards and exposure potential in alternatives assessments other than the additional requirement that assessors should have a working knowledge of ENMs.

As progress continues to be made in the validation of methods for ENMs, the following considerations for alternatives assessment will need to be continually adapted.

A. Identification of Alternatives

Identifying functionally equivalent alternatives for consideration in an alternatives assessment is one of the first steps of the approach. The IC2 Guide states, "Alternatives may include chemical substitutions, alternative materials, and changes to the product process or product redesign to eliminate a particular chemical. The widest range of possible alternatives should be researched, including emerging technologies." Considerations for ENMs associated with this step in the assessment include:

1. Identify physicochemical properties of ENM alternative, including CAS registry number and Trade Name if available.

Alternatives assessment relies on the use of chemical abstract service registry numbers (CAS RNs) to identify the specific chemical alternative under evaluation. No analogous system exists to uniquely identify an ENM based on its specific physicochemical properties. Although some ENMs have CAS RNs (e.g., fullerenes and carbon nanotubes), many do not and thus cannot be differentiated from bulk form chemicals (e.g., nano silica, nano gold, cadmium dots, etc.,).

EXAMPLE: The tuning of the synthesis of iron oxide ENM can give rise of many different shapes and sizes, despite the chemical composition being constant (Gavilán et al., 2021). It is important to consider physicochemical properties beyond chemical composition.



Some ENMs have trade names and can support uniquely identifying the ENMs under assessment. These trade name have accompanying set of physicochemical properties as listed on product specification documentation.

Each ENM differs based on specific physicochemical properties and these characteristics are used to identify the specific material. **TABLE 1** proposes a set of recommended physicochemical characteristics of the ENM alternative to support identifying the ENM under review. These physicochemical characteristics are used as the basis for registration ENMs under REACH. The European Chemical Agency's (ECHA) has established research methods to determine these physicochemical properties (ECHA, 2022a). Most of these physicochemical characteristics are also used later to help inform the intrinsic exposure potential of an ENM. **TABLE 1:** Recommended physicochemical properties of ENMs that should be defined when identifying ENMs aspotential alternatives, based on SCCS's Guidance on the Safety Assessment of Nanomaterials in Cosmetics (SCCS,2023a) and ECHA's Guidance on Registration and Substance Identification and Appendix R7-1 for nanomaterialsapplicable to Chapter R7a Endpoint Specific Guidance (ECHA, 2022a, 2022b).

Property Type	Physicochemical Property	Definition (SCCS, 2023a)		
Chemical	Chemical identity	Information on structural formula(e)/molecular structure(s) of the constituents of NM along with chemical and common names, and CAS RNs (where available).		
	Chemical composition	Information on full chemical composition of the NM including purity, nature of impurities, coatings, or surface moieties, doping material, encapsulating materials, processing chemicals, dispersing agents, and other additives or formulants e.g., stabilizers.		
Physical	Number-based size distribution	basedData and graphical representation of the size distribution of primary and secondary particles in terms of mean (±SD) and median sizes in nm should be provided.		
	Shape	Shapes include, but at not limited to, particle-, tube-, rod- or fibre.		
	Crystallinity	Stallinity Description of crystalline form (amorphous, polycrystalline, crystalline including specification of phase and volumetric fraction as well as spa distribution).		
	Surface area	Information on Brunauer, Emmett and Teller (BET) specific surface area of the NM, and volume specific surface area (VSSA).		
Physico- chemical	Solubility and dissolution rate	Dissolution is the process by which a nanomaterial in an aqueous med- or biological environment is dissolving into their constituent ions or molecules (ECHA, 2022b). Dissolution rates in relevant solvent(s) for soluble and partially soluble ENMs (solubility should not be confused or dispersibility of insoluble ENMs). For insoluble dispersible ENMs: information on dispersibility in terms of a relative amount of the parties that can be dispersed in a suspending medium.		
	Dustiness	Dustiness may be defined as the propensity of a powder to form airborne dust by a prescribed mechanical stimulus. It depends on a number of factors such as physicochemical properties of the particles (e.g. size, shap relevant density, type of coating), the environment (e.g. moisture, temperature), the type of process (e.g. energy applied), the interaction between particles during agitation (e.g. friction shearing) and the sampli and measurement configuration (ECHA, 2022b).		
	Zeta potential	Electrophoretic mobility can also be used as an indicator of particle (in)stability in solution (ECHA, 2022b).		

Use of CAS RNs in embedded in the current IC2 Guide because CAS RNs are often used to classify a chemical in hazard assessment data sources such as authoritative lists or GHS listings. Updating language in IC2 Guide is needed to account for the limits of CAS RNs in the assessment of ENMs and to stress the importance of outlining specific physicochemical properties.

Challenge: Although specific physicochemical characteristics are list on product specification documentation, it is unclear what physicochemical properties will be deemed Classified Business Information (CBI). Moving forward information in Table 1 should be made available on regulatory

dossiers for ENMs submitted under REACH. Safety Data Sheets (SDSs) are not required to report all physicochemical properties (EU Commission, 2020).

B. Hazard

The assessment of hazard is central and fundamental to an alternatives assessment. The IC2 Guide includes multiple levels of assessment, with greater expertise and investments of time and resources required for the higher levels. Additional considerations for the evaluation of ENMs in alternatives assessments include:

1. Deprioritize or eliminate ENMs if the material or one of its components appears on authoritative lists of existing hazard data or classifications.

Screening based on the use of authoritative lists is the first step in all hazards assessment levels (e.g., level 1, 2, and 3). If the assessor finds that EMNs contain hazardous chemicals, this provides justification that a given ENM is not a safer alternative. As stated by the EU SCCS in its Scientific Advice on the Safety of Nanomaterials in Cosmetics, "As a general rule, where chemical component(s) are toxic, as such or when put together in the form of a nanomaterial, they should constitute a trigger for concern over safety to the consumer health" (Bernauer et al., 2021).

EXAMPLE: Cadmium may be a constituent of an ENM used in electronics. The ENM should be assigned a "high" score for carcinogenicity based on clear evidence for the bulk chemical (Group 1 carcinogen classified by the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC), an authoritative list).

ENMs are beginning to be added to authoritative lists, such as the inclusion of TiO_2 in California's Proposition 65 (OEHHA, 2018). However, there is limited mention of EMNs on authoritative lists that were built centered on chemicals. Therefore, the absence of ENMs or their chemical components on screening lists should not be the only prerequisite to considering ENMs as safer alternatives. A deeper analysis is needed.

Additional research on ENMs that were not granted regulatory approval for use (especially relevant in the EU context) will be needed to supplement use of authoritative lists to screen out undesirable ENM alternatives in the assessment. As there is no authoritative list that gathers ENMs that have not been authorized for use, the assessor should search for decisions related to application of the ENM under assessment. For example, the authorization or restriction of ENMs for use in cosmetics in the EU is outlined in the annexes of the Cosmetics Products Regulation (ECHA, 2023; SCCS, n.d.).

There may be opportunities to engineer ENMs so that inherently hazardous chemical constituents are rendered non-biologically active, such as by using additional surface treatments or coatings that bind the chemical of concern in matrix. These considerations should be addressed in the exposure assessment module, which focuses on considering additional physicochemical properties of the ENM relevant to its intrinsic exposure potential.

Challenge: The feasibility of gaining public access to information about ENMs that have been

denied regulatory approvals for market entry is unclear. Research into the transparency of different regulatory approvals processes will support a better understanding of the data sources that can be used to adapt existing authoritative list screening steps during a hazard assessment when ENMs are being considered.

2. Identify likely physical and chemical transformation products of ENMs.

Alternatives assessments address the hazards of an alternative across its life cycle. The alternative, once released to the environment, may undergo chemical reactions (e.g., hydrolysis and oxidation) leading to the formation of transformation products. Considering transformation products and their hazards is not new; it is standard practice in hazard assessment methodologies such as the GreenScreen® approach – an approved methodology for use with the IC2 Guide.

ENMs usually transform in the environment both physically and chemically from their original form. ENM transformations in the environment are highly dependent on physicochemical properties (Baun et al., 2017; OECD, 2019). Distinct from chemical transformations, ENMs can also change size or shape (physical transformations) which may also impact their intrinsic hazard.

ENM transformations (chemical and physical) can be addressed through an evaluation of physicochemical properties, the likely environmental conditions during each life cycle stage, and known transformation products. These expected transformation products can be then assessed for hazard. In the assessment of ENM transformation products, data from pristine ENMs may not be suitable for read across to ENM transformation products due to the latter's differences in physicochemical properties.

EXAMPLE: Scientists at the US National Labs examined silver nanoparticles in consumer products as well as their simulated transformations during ingestion followed by processing in a wastewater treatment plant. They tracked the chemical transformations of silver in its elemental state (Ag⁰) to silver ions, silver sulfide and silver chloride. They found that ingestion changes both the chemical speciation and the morphology of silver nanomaterials (Potter et al., 2019).

The OECD outlined many possible transformation of ENMs in their "Decision Framework for Physico-chemical Characterisation" (OECD, 2019). In addition, various standardized tests can be employed to probe the potential transformation of EMNs (Nielsen et al., 2021).

Challenge: Consideration of transformation products significantly complicates the hazard assessments of ENMs as the dominant transformation products may be difficult to determine. Assessors should decide which transformation products to consider and document justification.

3. Utilize guidelines on data quality when assessing toxicological studies of ENMs and, if applicable, their transformation product(s).

Hazard assessments routinely rely on existing toxicological studies. In the case of ENMs, toxicological studies available in the literature may be of varying quality because efforts to standardize toxicological studies of ENMs are ongoing.

Specific chemical hazard assessments, such as Cradle to Cradle, ChemForward and GreenScreen, will often indicate whether the substance assessed is in nano form. The chemical hazard assessment should also indicate exposure routes for each of its hazard endpoints and assess the quality of the ENM-specific studies.

Existing test guidelines for chemicals have been evaluated for their applicability to ENMs and, where necessary, additional test guidelines through the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) have been established. The best practices for testing ENMs are continuously updated under REACH and through the OECD's Series on the Safety of Manufactured Nanomaterials.

Several methods have emerged to assess the data quality of toxicological studies of ENMs (SCCS, 2023a). For example, the World Health Organization (WHO), which focuses on the use of Good Laboratory Practice (GLP), adheres to OECD testing guidelines, and peer review (Lee et al., 2017). Another approach by the GUIDENano project relies on both the rigor of the toxicological test and the physicochemical properties of ENMs reported (Fernández-Cruz et al., 2018). NanoCRED examines the relevance and reliability of ecotoxicity data (Hartmann et al., 2017). Such approaches can be adapted by the alternatives assessor to justify whether a study is of high enough quality for inclusion.

EXAMPLE: NanoCRED assigns reliability scores of the study depending on its fulfilment of critical and important criteria. Examples of critical criteria (which are filled by the most reliable studies) include:

- Use of appropriate controls such as metal ions, and dispersants.
- Using test organisms that are appropriate for the nanomaterial and test conditions.
- Definition of exposure duration.
- Consideration of the stability of ENMs in data collection and interpretation.

Challenge: Assessing the quality of data from ENM toxicological studies requires chemistry and toxicological expertise and this will not be appropriate for Level 1 hazard assessments under the IC2 Guide.

4. When insufficient toxicological data on the ENM being assessed as an alternative exists, employ grouping methods to assist with using available data on "similar" materials.

When experimental data are unavailable or of limited quality for the ENM being assessed, hazard data on similar ENMs and/or bulk chemicals can be used for grouping and read-across approaches. Grouping gathers evidence from similar ENMs (with known toxicological effects) to justify the proposed connection between physicochemical properties and biological effects. This connection can then be used to predict the toxicological effects of an ENM being assessed.

Guidance for grouping ENMs together to support toxicity assessments has been outlined by ECHA to support the registration of ENMs under REACH (ECHA, 2019; ECHA, 2016). These grouping techniques require justifying the inclusion of a specific set of similar ENMs based on specific physicochemical properties. The list of specific physicochemical properties to consider for

grouping are a subset of those used to identify a given ENM in the identification of the alternatives module (TABLE 1). Grouping rules are also relevant for the assessment of transformation products given that the availability of hazard data on a specific ENM that has been transformed in the environment will be unlikely.

According to ECHA, certain physicochemical properties are required for understanding hazardous properties as a basis for grouping (see **APPENDIX II** for descriptions):

- Chemical composition, including impurities.
- Particle size distribution
- Shape and crystallinity
- Surface functionalization and treatment
- Surface area (by volume or mass or both)

ECHA does not outline steadfast rules for determining which ENMs can be considered as "similar enough" – it is up to the assessor to determine and justify based on the best available information, including for the following additional physicochemical properties, as deemed useful:

- Solubility
- Dispersion stability
- Dissolution rate
- Dustiness
- Biological or surface reactivity

When using read-across methods, it is important to explore the boundaries of the group of ENMs to which the read-across hypothesis applies to ensure that the physicochemical properties used to justifying the group do not underestimate the potential hazard of the ENM under assessment.

EXAMPLE: The EU Joint Research Center has published grouping studies on titanium dioxide (TiO2) and multi-walled carbon nanotubes (Aschberger et al., 2019; Lamon et al., 2018). The following hypothesis from six TiO_2 samples was used for read-across of two TiO_2 samples of unknown genotoxicity:

"Nano-TiO2 in its uncoated form has the potential to damage DNA, but this can be masked by the presence of coating or by the large amounts of impurities on the surface of the NM [nanomaterial]" (Lamon et al., 2018).

Challenge: Establishing grouping rules requires chemistry and toxicological expertise and this will not be appropriate for Level 1 hazard assessments under the IC2 Guide. Examples of grouping ENMs according to ECHA guidance are currently scarce.

5. In the case of data gaps in toxicological data, assess whether ENM-specific Quantitative Structure Activity Relationship (QSAR) models are validated and available.

In hazard assessments of bulk chemicals, physicochemical properties are often used to model or predict some endpoints when data gaps exist. However, for some hazard endpoints, the physicochemical properties of ENMs should not be used in existing modeling/prediction tools (ECHA, 2022b). These include:

- a) Use of octanol-water partition coefficient to predict bioaccumulation. Equilibrium concentrations of ENMs in different media is not achieved as quickly as chemicals.
- b) Use of water solubility parameters to predict bioavailability and mobility. The small size of ENMs can increase their mobility and therefore bioavailability.
- c) Use of granularity to predict inhalation potential. Methods that measure granularity often do not have a wide enough range of measurement to account for ENMs.
- d) Use of bulk data to assume low hazard in ENM endpoints. For example, low flammability in bulk silver did not translate to low flammability for nanosilver (Sass et al., 2016).

Due to the complexity of ENMs, no one physicochemical property of ENMs has been linked to a hazard endpoint in the same style as chemicals (e.g., chemical's octanol-water partition coefficient predicts bioaccumulation). In practice, multiple physicochemical properties of ENMs may be linked to specific hazard endpoints. For example, the concern regarding high aspect ratio nanomaterials' (HARN) ability to cause mesothelioma has been linked to a combination of size, shape, and chemical identity of ENMs (Tran et al., 2008).

QSARs are widely used tools to help fill data gaps in physicochemical properties, environmental fate, and biological effects. Currently, QSARs commonly used for chemicals cannot be readily adapted to ENMs due to the complex composition, size, and shape of nanomaterials. Although QSARs have been developed specifically for ENMs, particularly for metals, metal oxides, fullerenes and carbon nanotubes, these predictive models specific for ENMs are not yet widely adopted in the regulatory communities (OECD, 2022b). However, the lack of robust QSARs may be addressed in the future, therefore the assessor is encouraged to survey more recent developments.

Challenge: Using QSAR requires chemistry and toxicological expertise and this will not be appropriate for Level 1 hazard assessments under the IC2 Guide. The quality and applicability of QSARs should be assessed specific to each ENM as well – for example a QSAR may be applicable for non-coated metal oxide ENMs but not for coated carbon-based ENMs.

6. Review and reconsider decision rules for the treatment of ENM alternatives; remaining data gaps and uncertainties on key hazard endpoints should be treated with the utmost caution given the high potential for exposure.

Within the IC2 Guide, approved hazard assessment methodologies to be used often have specific decision rules embedded in the method regarding the treatment of data gaps and scoring/benchmarking methods that are used to support decision-making. Although the data to support the consideration of ENMs in an alternatives assessment has grown significantly in the last decade, a key challenge remains the associated data uncertainties.

The need to use predictive hazard tools rather than directly measured data will be a consistent challenge encountered when assessing ENMs. For example, if a type of nano-silica is being considered as an alternative, it is highly unlikely that the *exact* nano-silica has been experimentally tested given variations in physicochemical properties. The assessor should decide on the limits of grouping use in their decision making.

Key hazard endpoints, such as carcinogenicity, reproductive/developmental toxicity may not have any direct measurement data for ENMs of a specific class. The assessor should decide whether these data gaps (and other) justify discounting an alternative from further assessment. Although there are no established rules for deeming ENMs as safe(r), attributes that increase the level of concern are listed by the European Commissions' Scientific Committee on Consumer Safety (SCCS, 2023b). Minimum criteria for safer have been developed for chemicals (OECD, 2021c), which the assessor may choose to adopt for ENMs.

Summary

FIGURE 1 (below) abbreviates the hazard assessment considerations reviewed above and suggests specific decision rules where determinations about whether to proceed with the assessment or screen out an ENM alternative.



FIGURE 1: Considering Engineered Nanomaterials in the Hazard Module of Alternatives Assessment An Overview of Recommendations

C. Exposure Assessment

The purpose of an exposure assessment in an alternatives assessment is to determine the differences in the intrinsic exposure potential of alternatives relative to the chemical of concern for humans and ecosystems, regardless of external exposure controls in place (i.e., filtered ventilation or use of gloves, etc.). Three considerations for the evaluation of ENMs in the exposure assessments module are outlined below.

1. Use ENM physicochemical properties to inform the inherent exposure potential of ENMs.

The IC2 Guide's Level 1 and 2 exposure assessments includes an evaluation of physicochemical properties that support an understanding of the intrinsic exposure potential of a substance. Several physicochemical properties, outlined in **TABLE 1**, are important for understanding hazard as well as the intrinsic exposure potential of ENMs. Additional ENM physicochemical properties that influence exposure parameters are outlined in ECHA's chemical safety assessment guidance for registration under REACH (ECHA, 2019) (see **APPENDIX II**).

Throughout their life cycle, ENMs, unlike chemicals, undergo physical changes that may mediate exposure. The assessor should consider whether ENM transformation products influence exposure at relevant life cycle stages.

EXAMPLE: How physicochemical properties influencing exposure potential

CONSIDERING THE SOLUBILITY/DISSOLUTION RATE:

If an ENM is highly soluble in water and has a high dissolution rate in relevant biological (or environmental media, then it is likely that the nanoform is rapidly, increasingly, and finally completely present in its molecular or ionic form. The ENM can therefore be expected to behave similarly and elicit the same response as the non-nanoform of the substance. If, however, the ENM under investigation is poorly or only partially soluble with a low dissolution rate in biologically or environmentally relevant test media, then it will likely be present in the test system in a particulate form.

EXAMPLE: An alternatives assessment of ENMs in ceramics considers the potential for occupation exposure. In the manufacturing stage of ceramics, exposure to EMNs may occur through mixing of raw materials (Bessa et al., 2020). Ribalta et al (2019) found a high degree of correlation between dustiness and exposure concentrations in the handling of powder materials for ceramics (powders had a diameter of 3.4–120 μ m). Therefore, an alternatives assessor may choose to use dustiness as an indicator of occupational exposure.

Challenge: Although test guidelines are available for these physicochemical properties, it is unclear how readily available data will be for use in an alternatives assessment. Such data should be associated with registration dossiers under REACH, although not available as of this writing.

2. Consider adopting a decision rule: ENMs absence in biomonitoring and environmental monitoring is a minor data gap (rather than a major data gap) because biomonitoring studies have historically been focused on chemicals.

The IC2 Guide's Level 1 Exposure Assessment addresses whether the alternative has been found in either biomonitoring or environmental monitoring studies. Currently, lack of bioenvironmental studies on an alternative in the IC2 guidance is suggestive of a "serious data gap that may affect the alternative's viability as a safer alternative." Bio- and environmental monitoring of ENMs remains in its infancy. As of this writing, ENMs are not on any standardized analyte list for human biomonitoring programs nor for any environmental monitoring programs, such as those required by regulatory authorities.

3. Consider adopting a decision rule: Exposure scenarios that demonstrate a likelihood of inhalation exposure should be of high concern for those ENMs where hazard data are unable to demonstrate reduced concern for toxicity, including where no data is available.

Where inhalation exposure is likely, and where there is no evidence of "low" concern for key hazard endpoints such as such as carcinogenicity, reproductive/developmental toxicity, mutagenicity, persistence, etc., using measured or modeled hazard data (including the use of predictive physicochemical properties), such ENM alternatives could be screened out from further consideration.

In addition, the assessor may also consider hot spots of exposure to EMNs that may be relevant to vulnerable populations (e.g., oral exposure because children mouth on toys) where hazard data cannot demonstrate a reduced concern for toxicity.

EXAMPLE: The SCCS states that tris-biphenyl triazine, TiO2 and ZnO nanomaterials are "not to be used in applications that may lead to exposure of end-users lungs by inhalation" (ECHA, 2023). In EU cosmetics regulations, there is no nanomaterial that is approved for use in sprays.

D. Life Cycle Considerations

In both hazard and exposure assessment components in an alternatives assessment, life cycle considerations are embedded throughout. If an assessor chooses to execute the life cycle module, hazard, and exposures for the ENM alternative have already been considered across all life cycle stages (manufacturing, product manufacturing, use, disposal). In the IC2 Guide, the life cycle module is focused on addressing additional environmental impacts not considered in other modules (e.g., energy use, climate impacts, eutrophication, etc.).

1. If conducting a quantitative life cycle assessment (LCA), use nano-specific models to inform endpoints.

If the assessor chooses to execute a full LCA of the ENM alternative, they should consider the LCA tools developed to assess ENM fate and transformation (Salieri et al., 2018). The use of such

tools for cradle-to-grave life cycle assessment of an ENM is recommended because existing LCA tools were developed with chemicals in mind. The assessor should be aware of the limitations of such tools during the interpretation of the LCA results for ENMs.

Conclusion

As stated earlier, the considerations offered above are based on a review of current environmental and human health assessment practices for ENMs (APPENDIX I). This is a fast-evolving landscape, and assessors should take stock of continued developments for the evaluating ENMs in alternatives assessments.

APPENDIX 1: LITERATURE REVIEW OF ENGINEERED NANOMATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS IN SAFETY AND SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS

To support evaluations of engineered nanomaterials (ENMs) in alternatives assessment, a review of the existing literature was conducted. The review focused on the status of assessment methodologies for ENMs to inform specific components of an alternatives assessment, including: (a) the identification of alternatives, (b) hazard assessment, (c) comparative exposure assessment, and (d) life cycle considerations. These four components comprise specific modules of the Interstate Chemicals Clearinghouse's (IC2) Alternatives Assessment Guide (2017) (IC2 Guide) – a model alternatives assessment framework used to guide this project. These modules are most relevant to the question of what adaptations are needed to current assessment methods and practices when considering ENMs as possible alternatives. Literature reviewed includes key reports from governmental and quasi-governmental sources, websites, and peer-reviewed research articles. Each subsection starts with a brief overview of the purpose of the given alternatives assessment module as context for adapting/applying emerging best practices for the health and safety evaluation of nanomaterials. This is not a comprehensive review of the ENM literature, but rather, extracts notable and seminal sources that provide key insights for alternatives assessments.

The published literature to date on alternatives assessment methods related to the evaluation of ENMs is sparse. However, alternatives assessment methods are aligned with other fields that have received much greater attention related to the adaptation of assessment methods for ENMs, including risk assessment and life cycle assessment (LCA). Experts agree that the existing risk assessment paradigm is applicable to the evaluation of ENMs but adaptations are needed to account for the specific properties of ENMs (OECD, 2022b). The literature reviewed captures the needs and considerations for nano-specific risk assessments given limited data availability, as well as the progress made over the last decade in validated methods and updated regulatory requirements, particularly in the EU. Existing methods for LCA have also been determined to be broadly applicable for ENMs (OECD, 2015). However, given that lack of adequate data inputs for LCAs on ENMs is an overarching limitation to current use of the method, this review focuses mostly on aspects of life cycle thinking as informed by this literature.

A. Identification of Alternatives

The identification of a functionally equivalent alternative in an alternatives assessment involves identifying "chemical substitutions, alternative materials, and changes to the product process or product redesign to eliminate a particular chemical" (Interstate Chemicals Clearinghouse, 2013).

Commonly, chemical substitutes can be identified with a Chemical Abstract Service registry number (CAS RN). However, many ENMs cannot be identified uniquely by CAS RN. A CAS RN reflects the molecular composition of the substance and does not differentiate substances based on their size or other structural characteristics (Lynch et al., 2020). In addition, multicomponent ENMs (e.g., a core with a coating) can contain more than one chemical, which the CAS system is not designed to consider. Although some ENMs appear to have a CAS RN, such as fullerenes, other ENMs are commonly grouped under the CAS RN of the bulk material. For example, there is no unique CAS RN for nano silica or nano silver; instead, each use the CAS RN of the bulk substance.

The precise design of ENMs has led to a proliferation of materials of different sizes, shapes, compositions, and other properties. In addition, industrial-scale synthesis routes of ENMs can also produce mixtures of particles with a wide range of sizes. Therefore, identifying a specific ENM necessitates more than just listing a CAS RN and requires characterizing a range of physicochemical properties. **TABLE 1** describes the minimum set of property information needed to differentiate the ENM from other materials as outlined by specific government authorities.

The listing of properties for regulatory registration and reporting is meant to ensure that many possible factors are considered for ENMs and their intended uses. However, when conducting risk assessments of specific nanomaterials, knowledge of all these properties may not be necessary. The EU Joint Research Center (JRC) proposed a set of key physicochemical characteristics of ENMs based on their intended uses, which was later adopted in the REACH regulation (ECHA, 2019). The guidance acknowledges that not all characteristics may be relevant for all ENMs. For example, physical hazards of nanomaterials (e.g., flammability or explosiveness) may not apply to inert titanium dioxide nanomaterials in paints. However, particle composition, size and shape are almost always relevant to ENM use registrations.

Property	REACH*	EPA
Size	x	X
Shape	х	X
Size Distribution	X	X
Chemical composition	х	х
Specific Surface Area	X	X
Surface Chemistry	х	х
Crystal Structure	х	
Dustiness	х	
Crystallite Size	X	
Functionalization method	х	
Batch-to-batch variabilities or impurities	х	
Solubility	x	

TABLE 1: Physicochemical properties used to report the identity of an engineered nanomaterial by specific authorities (ECHA, 2022a; EPA, 2017)

*Note: These physicochemical properties are necessary for registration requirements under REACH. However, data from these registrations are not currently publicly available.

The physicochemical characteristics of ENMs often change after exposure to the environment or biological media (FIGURE 1). This includes physical transformations (such as aggregation) and chemical transformations (such as dissolution and photochemistry reactions). These transformations modify physicochemical properties and produce "aged" nanomaterials. Transformations are especially relevant for reactive nanomaterials, such as silver, which may dissolve or sulfidize.





The changes in ENM physicochemical properties in different environments have the potential to impact the study of ENM toxicity. Guidelines have been developed by the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) to encourage the reporting of ENM changes in different media in toxicity or environmental fate and transport studies (OECD, 2017); (OECD, 2019). EU guidance for the risk assessment of ENMs for food and animal feed applications require that the material be characterized at different stages, including the pristine state as manufactured, the material as prepared for testing, and on the material as present in products and applications (EFSA, 2021).

As ENMs become more complex in both synthesis and use (i.e., advanced materials or metastable materials), the potential for more complex transformations increases. For example, high-entropyalloy nanoparticles (composed of 8 elements) are being studied as catalysts and have recently been demonstrated as effective for the hydrogen evolution reaction (Wu et al., 2022).

B. Hazard Assessment

A hazard assessment is key to the selection of safer alternatives. Hazard assessments focus on evaluating adverse effects to humans and other species as driven by the inherent properties of a given substance, mixture, or process. In alternatives assessment using the IC2 Guide, hazard assessments consist of first using authoritative lists of chemicals of concern to screen out problematic alternatives and then evaluating alternatives based on toxicity data for an array of hazard endpoints using comparative hazard assessment methods.

In the absence of *in vivo* and *in vitro* data, the IC2 Guide also relies on quantitative structure activity relationship (QSAR) data and grouping to overcome a lack of experimental data. Emerging methods and practices for the identification and assessment of ENM hazards are reviewed below.

Use of Authoritative Lists

To date, only a few ENMs appear on authoritative lists. This includes multi-walled carbon nanotubes-7 (MWCNT-7) which was classified by IARC as "possibly carcinogenic" (Group 2B) (IARC, 2017). Titanium dioxide is also considered by IARC as "possibly carcinogenic to humans" (Group 2B) and is included on California's Prop 65 list (airborne, unbound particles of respirable size) based on evaluation of ultrafine particles, which are in the nano-size range (OEHHA, 2018). In addition, multiple NGOs and companies are including ENMs on their restricted substance lists (RSLs). Examples include carbon nanotubes (CNTs) on ChemSec's SINList, which is for both single- and multi-walled carbon nanotubes, irrespective of size and chemical modifications (Hansen & Lennquist, 2020). GreenScreen® Certified has also included 7 specific ENMs on their RSL for Food Service wear. Nike has restricted nanomaterials without stringent hazard assessments in all their footwear, apparel, and equipment product lines (CEH & CPA, 2022; Nike, 2022).

In addition to authoritative lists, regulatory approvals are relevant to screening ENMs for certain applications. In the EU, many regulatory directives require an authorization process to obtain approvals for the use of ENMs. For example, the EU Cosmetics Directive requires authorization of ENMs used as colorants, preservatives, and UV filters in cosmetics. To date, only 4 ENMs have received such authorization (SCCS, n.d.). This authorization process is an attempt to be proactive in keeping substances of concern off the market, rather than reactive, where problematic chemicals are elevated in the market because of a failure in chemicals management legislation regarding pre-market reviews. ENMs that are not authorized present a significant risk to human health and the environment - a similar justification for placing a substance on chemicals of concern/authoritative list.

Use of Bulk Form Hazard Information

If a substance does not appear on authoritative lists, the IC2 Guide indicates the assessor should gather and compare hazard information. For ENMs, there may be a completed hazard assessment available for the bulk form, but the assessor should use caution when applying this bulk hazard information to an ENM. There are various methods to determine whether nanomaterials have specific "nano-relevant" properties, such as the Swiss Precautionary Matrix (Höck et al., 2018). There are two scenarios where it may be appropriate to use the bulk hazard information for an ENM; either when an ENM is composed of a restricted chemical or when an ENM is readily soluble.

Guidance from the European Commission outlines that hazard data for specific substances comprising an ENM (e.g., toxicity data on silver for nanosilver, or data on silica for nanosilica) should be used to inform toxicity. Current risk assessment guidance issued by the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) includes considerations about the carcinogenic, mutagenic, and reproductive toxicity properties of one or more of the chemical components of an ENM (EFSA, 2021). This guidance is aligned with design rules emerging from the green nano/Safe by Design (SbD) literature recommending the avoidance of ENMs that contain known toxic elements in which the ions or small molecules pose recognized hazards to human health and the environment until direct test data is available to demonstrate safety (Hutchison, 2008; Schwirn et al., 2021). As stated by the European Commission's Scientific Committee on Consumer Safety (SCCS) in its Scientific Advice on the Safety of Nanomaterials in Cosmetics, "As a general rule, where chemical component(s) are toxic, as such or when put together in the form of a nanomaterial, they should constitute a trigger for concern over safety to the consumer health" (Bernauer et al., 2021).

Another possible scenario for nanomaterials hazards to be "grouped" with their corresponding bulk materials occurs when the nanomaterial is soluble (i.e., readily dissociates into its molecular or ionic components in water) (EFSA, 2021). In other words, ENMs that lose their nano-specific properties when added to water resemble the bulk form of their substance in solution. For example, an ENM composed of sodium chloride dissolves after contact with water, creating sodium and chloride ions in solution – exactly as bulk sodium chloride behaves. Therefore, the toxicological assessment of sodium chloride is applicable to nanoscale sodium chloride. According to the European Chemicals Agency (ECHA), an ENM with a solubility of > 100 mg/L in water within 24 hours is exempt from ENM-specific guidance for environmental toxicological testing. For human health endpoints, the nanomaterial should be greater than > 33.3 g/L and have a halflife of water dissolution of \leq 10 minutes. As the latter values are not yet based on OECD guidelines or equivalent validated procedures in biological media, these values may be updated when more information is available (ECHA, 2022b). With expert judgement, OECD proposes that nanomaterials that aggregate irreversibly in realistic conditions may also be considered bulk materials (OECD, 2019). However, this may be applicable to nanomaterials only at certain stages in their life cycle, such as after an integration into a product.

Use of GHS to Classify Hazards of Nanomaterials

In the case where an ENM's hazard assessment should not be derived directly from the bulk hazard assessment, the assessor can leverage ENM-specific hazard data. Roughly a decade ago, there was a sheer absence of health and safety data on ENMs; that is not the case today. Over the last decade, there has been a tremendous growth in the toxicity assessments of ENMs.

Use of GHS (Globally Harmonized System of Classification and Labelling of Chemicals) hazard categories underlies nearly all alternatives assessment hazard assessment approaches. The OECD Guidelines for the testing of chemicals are the foundation of the GHS system (UNECE, 2019). However, because physicochemical properties of ENMs differ from conventional chemicals, several efforts have reviewed the applicability of GHS to ENMs. One such effort was sponsored by the Nordic Council of Ministers, which examined 4 ENMs and the applicability of existing test methods and GHS criteria for 5 hazard classes (Larsen et al., 2019). In general, current GHS classification criteria were found to be applicable although important caveats were noted. The

assessment revealed that classification differences were observed for the same type of ENM given differences in purity. The assessment also revealed that testing at high doses for ENMs with high surface areas and low density may not be technically achievable, which was especially relevant for testing via inhalation route. Insufficient data/data gaps were also apparent for most ENMs assessed.

A second effort sponsored by the World Health Organization similarly evaluated 11 ENMs and the applicability of existing GHS criteria for 9 hazard classes (Lee et al., 2017). This review did not offer substantive insights about the applicability of specific test methods and related criteria. However, similar to the review above, data gaps were noted across all ENMs reviewed.

The OECD Testing Program of the OECD Working Party on Manufactured Nanomaterials has spurred by the development of standardized test methods and associated toxicity research efforts (OECD, 2023b). The OECD continues to develop testing guidelines that consider ENMs, such as the recently released "Guidance Document on Aquatic and Sediment Toxicological Testing of Nanomaterials" which modifies the Growth Inhibition Test for Freshwater Alga and Cyanobacteria (TG 201) (OECD, 2022a). Characterization of nanomaterials is also incorporated into the OECD Test Guidelines for Chemicals in Section 1: Physical Chemical Properties (2023a). Therefore, as these methods and guidelines are operationalized, GHS testing will contain ENMspecific considerations. Assessors, however, should use caution when examining past studies that inform GHS but do not consider ENM properties.

It is important to review specific OECD test guidelines as some for bulk chemical substances should not be used or have been significantly adapted for ENMs. One important example of this is the use of the Ames test for mutagenicity. The scientific community has concluded that the standard bacterial Ames assay test is usually not adequate to be part of the battery of mutagenicity tests for "poorly soluble" nano particles (ECHA, 2022b).

Extensive dossiers on 11 commonly used (or soon to be used) ENMs are available based on research sponsored or reviewed by the OECD Test Program (OECD, 2023b). Extensive research conducted through US EPA's Office of Research and Development on ENMs has been organized in a relational data repository, NaKnowBase. The NaKNowBase connects physicochemical properties of researched ENMs with their toxicity impacts (human, ecological, environmental fate impacts) – an important feature given the broad variation of physicochemical properties within the same type of ENMs that may result in varied impacts (Boyes et al., 2022). ENanoMapper, funded by the EU, also gathers nanomaterial hazard information, with an emphasis on the physicochemical properties reported by each study (FP7, 2023).

Data from ENMs in their pristine form can be different than if the ENM was tested in specific environmental media or in various biological/environmental compartments of their life cycle. Thus, the form of the ENM tested may not always best represent the form to which cells and organisms are exposed. The OECD recommends that assessors ensure that the ENM being examined in a toxicological study: (a) has been adequately characterized, (b) represents a realistic conservative form of the material to which an individual or organism has been exposed, and (c) is adequately representative of the test material used in the effects testing (OECD, 2022b).

Data Gaps in In Vitro and In Vivo Data

Despite the growth in research and subsequent publications on the health and safety of ENMs, data gaps still abound. Data is often lacking for ENMs on important endpoints for alternatives assessments, such as carcinogenicity and reproductive toxicity (OECD, 2023b).

To fill these data gaps for a specific ENM under assessment, assessors may choose to examine toxicological studies of similar EMNs. Methods such as grouping, read-across and QSARs can support hazard assessments where the physicochemical properties of an ENM are different than for other similar ENMs where hazard and physicochemical data have been published. However, similar ENMs may have different physicochemical properties, such as shape and coating. In addition, the agglomeration/aggregation properties of ENMs present additional challenges.

Predictive Hazard Methods – Grouping

The sheer variety of ENMs and their potential to transform complicates assessment efforts for safety and sustainability. To decrease this complexity, there is growing practice in the use grouping based on specific physicochemical characteristics. This enables the use of read-across from nanomaterials of known toxicity and environmental transformations to those with untested impacts. Justifying a grouping rationale for ENMs supports the use of available data on "surrogate" materials, as it is unlikely that safety/sustainability assessment data will be available for the exact ENM material under investigation.

In the early 2000s, one of the first approaches to grouping nanomaterials was developed based on scientists' experience with asbestos' physicochemical properties. High aspect ratio nanoparticles (HARN) have 3 key characteristics which correlate to asbestos and therefore a high risk of mesothelioma: (a) a diameter small enough to reach sensitive areas of the lung; (b) a length long enough to cause certain inflammatory pathways in the lung; and (c) bio-persistence such that the impact is maintained (Tran et al., 2008). This approach has continued to be employed in many nanomaterials grouping models such as NanoRiskCat and the GRACIOUS Framework (Hansen et al., 2014; Stone et al., 2020). If more data is available regarding the HARN, a recent integrated approach to testing and assessment has been developed which includes predictive toxicology tests and *in vitro* methods to inform assessors of the potential for the same adverse impact pathway that leads to mesothelioma (Murphy et al., 2021).

Data gaps in the characterization of physicochemical properties and lack of sufficient toxicological testing of nanomaterials are two reasons that read across is carefully used by regulators, often with substantial justification (ECHA, 2022d). Recent amendments to the EU REACH regulation have set guidelines for justifying a nanomaterial's grouping into a "set of nanoforms" (ECHA, 2019). This grouping is based on extensive physicochemical characterization of both the group and the candidate nanomaterial.

The starting point for grouping nanomaterials is "what they are" (chemical/physical characteristics, see **FIGURE 2**) followed by a consideration of the relevant properties of "what they do" and "where they go". An example "set of nanoforms" across different endpoints does not appear to be publicly available from ECHA. The OECD and Joint Research Council (JRC) recently tested these ECHA grouping parameters and determined that grouping is possible and useful, but the hazard endpoint should first be tentatively linked to the ENM's physicochemical property (OECD, 2018). A potential hypothesis for the grouping of certain ENMs are the use of HARNs

(FIGURE 3) which are generally accepted as hazardous.

Alternatives assessments considering ENMs have employed a range of grouping approaches by physicochemical property. When analyzing silver nanomaterials with GreenScreen®, Sass and colleagues grouped according to core composition (silver) as well as coating function that allowed for the use of silver ENM as an antimicrobial and size distribution (1-100 nm) (Sass et al., 2016). This assessment also benefited from the existence of a standardized particle; AGS-20. A recent GreenScreen® on titanium dioxide grouped nano-sized titanium dioxide particles with non-nano pigment grade and respirable size particles ($\leq 10 \ \mu m$) (WAP, 2021). Although specific studies were cited in the assessment, specific physicochemical considerations outside of particle size were not reported.

FIGURE 2: Key properties of nanomaterials, grouped by either physical identity or intended use. This information was identified by ECHA as the basic information needed to implement read across for hazard assessments of nanomaterials. Properties that are requirements for REACH registration are in bold (ECHA, 2019).



Alternatives assessments considering ENMs have employed a range of grouping approaches by physicochemical property. When analyzing silver nanomaterials with GreenScreen®, Sass and colleagues grouped according to core composition (silver) as well as coating function that allowed for the use of silver ENM as an antimicrobial and size distribution (1-100 nm) (Sass et al., 2016). This assessment also benefited from the existence of a standardized particle; AGS-20. A recent GreenScreen® on titanium dioxide grouped nano-sized titanium dioxide particles with non-nano pigment grade and respirable size particles ($\leq 10 \ \mu m$) (WAP, 2021). Although specific studies were cited in the assessment, specific physicochemical considerations outside of particle size were not reported.

FIGURE 3: Example of grouping hypothesis based on high aspect ratio for inhalation effects (ECHA 2019)

Available information:

- The substance is insoluble in water and biological media;
- The shape of both the source and the target (set of) nanoform(s) is fibre-like with a high aspect ratio;

Basis for hypothesis:

It is hypothesized that both (sets of) nanoforms are biopersistent and that the fibre-like structure will cause similar adverse effects via inhalation.

Further information needed to support the hypothesis:

In this case, it may be justified to "read-across" the hazard associated with the source nanoform and no further information would be needed if a similar aspect ratio can be demonstrated together with insolubility in water and biological media. In addition, rigidity and hardness of the material may play an important role in hazard and safety assessment and may need to be considered

Predictive Hazard Methods: Read-Across and QSAR methods

Read-across and QSAR methods adapted for ENMs are available but are generally not yet accepted as stand-alone hazard results due to a lack of standardization of the input data (test methodologies and nanomaterial properties) and a lack of robustness (ECHA, 2019). Research and refinement of these modeling methods is an active field of study, with both the EU (through REACH and research efforts) and OECD test methodology standardization efforts.

Nanomaterial-specific predictive hazard modelling methods are necessary because specific physicochemical properties indicative of potential hazards used for conventional chemicals are not applicable to ENMs. Such is the case for use of the octanol water coefficient, solubility, and granularity. For instance, the octanol water coefficient, which predicts the bioaccumulation potential for chemicals, should not be applied to ENMs because the thermodynamic equilibrium of nanomaterials cannot be reached at the same rate as small chemicals (ECHA, 2022b). The dissolution and aggregation of nanomaterials can also skew the results of the bioaccumulation test. Guidance for the registration of ENMs under REACH recommends alternative fate descriptors which are currently under development by the OECD (ECHA, 2022b).

Solubility (as a proxy for mobility) should also not be readily applied to ENMs. For chemicals, a lack of solubility generally decreases the mobility of a chemical and decreases its chances for access to humans or other organisms. For ENMs, a lack of solubility does not necessarily mean that the material cannot be dispersed in solution. A stable ENM dispersion could lead to high mobility. Therefore, guidance for the registration of ENMs under REACH does not recommend waiving certain toxicological endpoints for nanomaterials solely based on insolubility (ECHA, 2022b). Granularity is commonly used to consider whether inhalation of a material is possible. However, due to the small size of ENMs and their ability to agglomerate, the characterization used for granularity must be fit for a wide range of particle measurements. Therefore, ECHA recommends multiple methods to effectively capture the large size range of particle measurements (ECHA, 2022b).

Safe by Design (SbD)

Awareness of the inherent health and safety concerns of ENMs has spurred the growth of the SbD concept in both the EU and the US. The concept aims to reduce adverse effects on human health and the environment by altering the design of nanomaterials to ensure safety across their life cycle. The concept envisions tuning specific physicochemical properties to reduce the toxicity of ENMs, such as altering the chemical functionalization or shape of the material (Jiménez et al., 2022).

In general, SbD involves an iterative assessment process that divides the innovation process into a predefined set of stages and activities. The progression from one stage to the next is regulated by a gate, where the project is evaluated according to a set of adaptable safety criteria, leading to a decision regarding whether the project should continue or not. SbD incorporates predictive toxicology testing using New Approach Methods (NAMs) early in the innovation phase to better discern safer options to advance towards commercialization (Jiménez et al., 2022).

At the time of writing, the lack of robust QSAR and read-across methods calls for the use of grouping or toxicological studies to determine whether an ENM that is safe by design is, indeed, safe by design.

C. Exposure Assessment

Alternatives assessment focuses on the selection of safer alternatives rather than controlling exposure as the key to decreasing harmful impacts on people and the environment. This component of the assessment answers the question: *Is the alternative preferable, equivalent to, or potentially worse than the priority chemical of concern given the potential for exposure.*

Qualitative exposure assessments are recommended for alternatives assessment, and focus on how the possible exposure concerns are different depending on the alternative at each stage in the chemical or product life cycle (from manufacturing to end-of-life) (Interstate Chemicals Clearinghouse, 2017). Assessments primarily consider the potential for exposure based on inherent or intrinsic chemical and physical properties as well as expected use scenarios and do not, necessarily, attempt to quantify those exposures, except where necessary to understand potential trade-offs.

To date, alternatives assessments examining ENMs have considered ENM physicochemical properties in the exposure assessment using a qualitative manner. For example, Gilbertson and Ng (2016), when assessing ENM alternatives to chemical flame retardants considered the possibility for volatilization of the ENM alternative during use. The authors also acknowledged the opportunity to configure the ENM with specific physicochemical properties to minimize exposure during manufacturing but did not state what those should be. Hjorth et al. (2017) recommended the use of control banding, such as the NanoRiskCat approach, to estimate exposure potential in alternatives assessment. The NanoRiskCat approach establishes that ENMs in the air or suspended in liquids have high exposure potential, ENMs that are surface bound have a medium exposure potential, and ENMs embedded inside of solids have a low exposure potential.

Inhalation as an Inherent Concern for ENM exposures

The intrinsic inhalation exposure potential of unbound, un-agglomerated ENMs is significant given their extremely small size (Braakhuis et al., 2021). In addition, because ENMs (particularly nanoparticles) have a slow rate of settling, some can remain suspended in air for longer periods of times and become more broadly dispersed over wider geographic areas than larger particles of the same size. ENMs that are in the form of powders, sprays or aerosols may result in a high potential for exposure in either manufacturing or consumer product use settings. Exposure could also happen in later life cycle stages due to mechanical or physical processes, such as sanding cured paint or weathering processes. In such situations, there is a high potential for inhalation exposure prior to any controls. Consequently, the default assumption is that for any unbound ENM, inhalation exposure is highly likely.

The high concern for nanomaterials' impacts via inhalation has been noted by ECHA and the OECD (OECD, 2022b), several academics, and other regulators:

- ENMs that are poorly soluble can induce pulmonary effects if inhaled at high concentrations because lung clearance mechanisms are unable to remove the particles given rate of exposures (Braakhuis et al., 2021).
- Nanoparticles deposited in the lung can translocate to distal sites (Aragon et al., 2017; Erdely et al., 2009; Mercer et al., 2013).
- Pulmonary exposure to nanoparticles can cause cardiovascular effects and some may be carcinogenic (Kuempel et al., 2017; Li et al., 2007; Nurkiewicz et al., 2008; Rittinghausen et al., 2014; Sargent et al., 2014).
- High aspect ratio nanomaterials (HARNs) are considered an inhalation hazard and therefore have extremely low exposure limits that are often based on fiber numbers (Visser et al., 2022).
- Recent decisions by the EU SCCS have informed restrictions in the EU for ENMs such as the use of nano-zinc oxide and nano-titanium oxide in spray-based cosmetics, including sunscreens because of the high exposure potential and concern for impacts on the pulmonary system (SCCS, n.d.).

ENM Exposure Considerations in Risk Assessment

Risk assessment of ENMs has led to the development of various exposure assessment frameworks, the majority of which are qualitative in nature. This is partly due to the difficulty in assessing the transformations of nanomaterials under environmentally relevant conditions. One such example in the difficultly of setting quantitative metrics for exposure is the agglomeration of nanomaterials that may lead to decreased uptake of nanomaterials in toxicological studies, complicating studies that set a high dose for the no observed effect concentration (NOEC). Therefore, exposure assessments should consider possible changes to the form of ENMs across the life cycle, which are often dictated by physicochemical properties (Oomen et al., 2018). This is echoed in nanomaterial safety guidance developed by the EU SCCS, which emphasizes that information on size distribution of ENMs in products is needed due to the link between ENM size and uptake (SCCS, 2023a).

Advances in exposure assessment techniques for ENMs have been made through the development of various tools and standardization practices, as recently reviewed by the OECD considering adaptations needed in existing methods (OECD, 2022b; **FIGURE 4**).

FIGURE 4: Exposure considerations for chemicals and their development in reference to nanomaterials.

Establishing the main degree of exposure for the receptor (human or animal)			can be applied to nanomaterials	
Exposure or Release Characterization			Nanomaterials are mainly released through products, embedded in matrix or as ions	
Understand if/how a nanomaterial may be in contact with the human body or released into the environment	Understand a nanomaterials fate in different compartments (environmental or biological) and how an organism encounters a nanomaterial	Quantification of exposure		Leverage nanomaterials known transformations (and associated tools) or assume worst case
		Estimate Predicted Environmental Concentrations (PECs) or exposure distributions in human organs or environmental compartments		Various models exist, but no scientific consensus yet.

As previously mentioned, inhalation of ENMs is considered a route of significant concern. When ENMs are embedded into products, recent reviews have pointed out that the release of nanomaterials often involves fragmentation of the matrix or dissolution of the nanomaterial into ions (Svendsen et al., 2020). ENMs that are released as fragments are often associated with other components of the product, such as plastic fragments. For assessment purposes, it is therefore key to understand the product, its use, and how (and how strongly) the ENM is embedded/bonded in the matrix.

Once released from a product (or as free nanomaterials due to emissions/releases during manufacturing), ENMs are transformed and transported in the environment. Their many physicochemical characteristics have presented a challenge in determining their environmental fate and behavior (Hansen et al., 2011). Due to the relatively low concentration of ENMs in comparison to other chemicals, materials, or biological matter and their inherent reactivity, it is very common for nanomaterials to form hetero-aggregates. ENMs may also dissolve over time, and this dissolution may be accelerated in certain environments (such as the acidic digestive tract of certain organisms) (OECD, 2019).

Commonly used exposure assessment models, such as European Union System for the Evaluation of Substances (EUSES) have been determined to be insufficient for ENMs given that (a) the extent/rate of dissolution is unknown or not included in current models and the same goes for (b) the extent/rate of aggregation/settling and (c) the extent of association with sediment. These factors, in addition to lack of specific knowledge about transformation processes, renders significant gaps in current understanding of fate and transport of ENMs (Baun et al., 2017). Based on a review of environmental fate literature to date on ENMs, Baun et al. (2017) do suggest however that surface affinity is a specific physicochemical property that may provide significant insight into the environmental fate and behavior of ENMs. Surface affinity is a crucial parameter in determining the attachment of nanoparticles in environmental matrices and their tendency to heteroaggregate.

The OECD recently analyzed exposure models developed for quantification of consumer and occupational exposure of nanomaterials. The qualitative models Stoffenmanager Nano v1.0 and Swiss Precautionary Matrix v3.1 were identified as appropriate to prioritize nanomaterials exposure to consumers whereas quantitative methods tended to overestimate exposure (OECD, 2021a).

In alternatives assessment, quantification of exposure is not typically necessary, except when exposures from the alternatives are likely to be the same or higher than the chemical of concern, but if there are significant uncertainties, quantitative assessments could be informative (Greggs et al., 2019). There are also tools developed for ENM exposure in specific scenarios, such as the ConsExpo tool for ENM inhalation exposure due to spray products. Quantitative tools used for the modelling of nanomaterials in the environment have also recently been evaluated by the OECD (OECD, 2021b). One such model is SimpleBox4Nano which adds nanomaterial considerations through different physicochemical factors, with recently proposed critical limits (Meesters et al., 2019). These models simplify the environmental transformations of ENMs into three categories: free ENMs, bioavailable ENMs (< 450 nm, may be aggregated with natural colloids), and nonbioavailable ENMs (> 450 nm).

Data gaps in ENM exposure knowledge

Like predictive hazard assessments, certain tools applicable for measuring exposure to chemicals are not applicable to ENMs. For example, OECD TG 417 (which delves into toxicokinetics) is not applicable to ENMs because it does not account for particulates and instead relies on diffusion and perfusion over a relatively short time frame (Rasmussen et al., 2016). This has led to the development of ENM-specific standards such as ISO/TR 22019:2019 "Nanotechnologies-Considerations for performing toxicokinetic studies with NMs" and may lead to updated OECD guidance (ISO, 2019).

There is also limited data concerning ENMs in bio- and environmental monitoring studies. Smallscale studies testing ENMs in workers or in ENMs in environmental media, such as ambient air or soil, do exist, but no large-scale bio- or environmental monitoring studies of ENMs were found (Bergamaschi et al., 2022; Bocca et al., 2023).

In the absence of experimental data or estimations, various regulatory agencies have adopted the stance that ENM exposure is more likely than when handling bulk materials. The SCCS assumes that dermal absorption of ENMs is either equivalent or higher than conventional substances (Bernauer et al., 2021). NIOSH guidance on inhalation recommended exposure limits (RELs) for 2 ENMs (Ag and TiO₂) are roughly 10x lower than that of larger particle sizes (NIOSH et al., 2022). WHO recommends an occupational exposure limit (OEL) that is equivalent to or lower than the bulk material (WHO, 2017).

D. Life Cycle Assessment

Life cycle assessment refers to the quantification of impacts in various categories (from climate change to eutrophication) throughout the life cycle of a product. This method is standardized through ISO 14040. While less standardized, LCT also considers the life cycle of a product, avoids burden-shifting from one stage to another, and embraces the many social, environmental, and economic categories similar to LCA. With LCT, only stages where the alternative will differ significantly from the incumbent product should be considered.

The process for creating a life cycle inventory (LCI) can benefit alternatives assessment by mapping the life cycle of a nanomaterial and its use in specific products. This could allow the assessor to compare the impacts of different manufacturing routes of nanomaterials, including the selection of raw materials. For example, when considering the production of silver nanomaterials, a recent review of LCAs pointed out that the silver precursor acquisition (including mining and refining) was the main contributor to greenhouse gas emissions (Temizel-Sekeryan & Hicks, 2020). Therefore, certain hot spots in a nanomaterial's production in alternatives assessment can be effectively identified through analysis of a corresponding LCA (**FIGURE 5**).





Since end-of-life impacts are quantified in an LCA, these methods were analyzed for their adaptation to ENMs and LCT for alternatives assessment. Just as in the hazard and exposure assessments, a lack of nanomaterial-specific data to feed into an LCI is commonly cited as a barrier (OECD, 2015). This lack of foundational data also impacts important intermediate data points in LCA called characterization factors. These characterization factors are a combination of chemical – or nanomaterial – persistence, exposure, and probability of adverse effects to a certain population. Characterization factors are especially key for human health endpoints and ecotoxicity. Certain groups have hypothesized characterization factors for individual nanomaterials (and thus effectively brought together many studies on nanomaterial hazard and exposure), but there is not yet consensus in the field for the specific values. Alternatives assessment practitioners can use the data behind characterization factor determinations as a foundation for determining a potential "hot spot" in the ENM life cycle.

One model that supports the data behind LCA's characterization factor is the USEtox model, with proposed adaptations for the exposure to consider the various forms of nanomaterials present (Salieri et al., 2018). These adaptations include a consideration of two fractions for ENMs – a soluble and insoluble fraction. In this context, the soluble fraction indicates ionic components, while the insoluble fraction is intact ENMs (either free or hetero aggregated to colloids). In the absence of data, the model recommends the assumption of complete dissolution of the ENM, a precautionary approach as ions are typically more hazardous than bulk elemental forms. Such adaptations to the USEtox model have not yet been integrated into the Product Environmental Footprint (PEF) methodology, which is in development in the EU to bring LCA into sustainability-related policies.

The integration of ENM-specific considerations for endpoints in LCA have not yet become

standard in the field. For example, models such as eutrophication and greenhouse gas emissions have not yet been adapted to consider ENM properties – if needed at all.

APPENDIX II: PHYSICOCHEMICAL PROPERTY DESCRIPTIONS (REPRODUCED FROM ECHA 2019)

Properties Influence Hazard Traits		
Size and size distribution	The size of the particles of the nanoform affects other physicochemical parameters, such as crystallinity, zeta potential and specific surface area, and may determine exposure, and whether the nanoparticle can be internalized into an organism. Once internalized, particle size may also affect the distribution within the body, and the toxicity at both the point of entry and distally. Size distribution is not a static parameter; it may also change during the course of (environmental) toxicity testing (as well as during the lifecycle of the material) due to e.g., partial dissolution, interaction with test media or preferential absorption of smaller particles	
Shape and crystallinity	Particle shape may affect the internalization of a nanoform (e.g., the ability of a nanoform to penetrate into a cell) and its (environmental) toxicity. In inhalation studies, particle shape may influence nanoform deposition within the lungs and may also influence its persistence in the lungs and probably in other sites. Particle shape may also influence other parameters, such as zeta potential. Crystal structure may for some nanoforms influence other properties of the material (e.g., reactivity, zeta potential, Hamaker constant) in a way that affects human and environmental toxicity. Decreasing size of particles may introduce crystallographic changes in the material (contraction of the crystal lattice or deformation).	
Surface area, including porosity	The increase of relative surface area with decreasing particle size may increase the reactivity of a nanoform relative to its mass and/or volume. Furthermore, as a consequence of the increased surface to volume ratio, porosity may affect the crystalline structure.	
Chemical composition	Detailed information on chemical composition is fundamental for determining human health and environmental effects of nanoforms, as is the case for non-nanoforms. However, size, shape, and surface characteristics of a nanoform may cause the nanoform to exhibit a different behavior compared to the non-nanoform of a material with the same composition.	
Impurities	As for non-nanoforms, impurities can substantially contribute to the human and environmental toxicity of nanoforms.	
Surface treatment/ functionalization	The term surface chemistry indicates the chemical composition at the surface of the particles as a result of chemical coating and/or surface treatment of the particle. Surface chemistry influences dissolution behavior and agglomeration behavior of nanoforms. Considering hazard endpoints, the surface chemistry of a nanoform affects its reactivity and systemic absorption. Surface modification(s) may determine which biomolecules adhere to the nanoform, its distribution and cellular uptake, and its toxic effects. In the environment, surface chemistry will influence sorption to environmental or biological media and the reactivity of a nanoform.	

Pro	perties	Influenci	na In	trinsic	Exposu	re Potential
			- S		Expect	

Solubility	The rate of dissolution depends on factors including, but not limited to, the chemical composition, particle size, coating, surface treatment, stability, manufacturing process, and biological environment. The rate of dissolution gives information on how many ions/molecules are released from the particle over time. The ion(s)/ molecules released may also dictate the toxicity of the nanoforms, which will be an important aspect of the evaluation. "Water solubility" is an intrinsic material property, but in most cases the system-dependent property "dissolution rate in relevant biological media" will be more relevant as this fundamentally affects the bioavailability of substances in the (biological) environment. The relevance of the different media depends on the actual route of exposure and/or the environmental compartment under evaluation.
Hydrophobicity	Hydrophobicity for nanoforms is dependent on e.g., van der Waals energy (as represented by the Hamaker constant) and surface charge. Analytical determination of the hydrophobicity of nanoforms is still under development, e.g., sessile drop contact angle, dye adsorption. While these parameters can influence agglomeration and sorption, as well as "dispersibility in biological media" and dustiness, currently the exact relationships between them are not clear. Hydrophobicity is influenced by the surface treatment/functionalization of the particles. Thus, knowledge on the surface chemistry can give qualitative information about the hydrophobicity of the nanoforms.
Zeta potential	Zeta potential can be used as a proxy for surface charge and may provide information in dispersion stability, degree of agglomeration/de-agglomeration of particles in relevant media. Surface charge may influence systemic distribution and cellular uptake of a nanoform, and ultimately its toxicity. There is additional evidence linking zeta potential to the inflammation potential of nanoscale particles of metals and minerals.
Dispersibility	This parameter can influence the degree of environmental transport and (environmental) exposure. Furthermore, this parameter may influence the degree of internal exposure (particularly by the oral route; however, particle dispersibility also affects nanomaterial mobility within the lung and hence its potential for systemic uptake).
Dustiness	This parameter is mainly relevant for exposure via air (particularly by inhalation) and transport through air. In the environment, this parameter is not relevant to aquatic/sediment exposures and only to a limited extent for soil exposures. Dustiness depends on a number of factors such as physicochemical properties of the particles (e.g., size, shape, relevant density, type of coating), the environment (e.g. moisture, temperature), the type of process (e.g. energy applied), the interaction between particles during agitation (e.g. friction shearing) and the sampling and measurement configuration.

REFERENCES

Alternatives Assessment Guide Version 1.1. (2017). In (pp. 1-183): Interstate Chemicals Clearinghouse. https://www.theic2.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/IC2_AA_Guide_Version_1.1.pdf

Aragon, J., Navascues, N., Mendoza, G., & Irusta, S. (2017). Laser-treated electrospun fibers loaded with nanohydroxyapatite for bone tissue engineering. International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 525(1), 112-122.

Aschberger, K., Asturiol, D., Lamon, L., Richarz, A., Gerloff, K., & Worth, A. (2019). Grouping of multi-walled carbon nanotubes to read-across genotoxicity: A case study to evaluate the applicability of regulatory guidance. Computational Toxicology, 9, 22-35.

Baun, A., Sayre, P., Steinhaeuser, K. G., & Rose, J. (2017). Regulatory relevant and reliable methods and data for determining the environmental fate of manufactured nanomaterials. NanoImpact, 8, 1-10.

Bergamaschi, E., Bellisario, V., Macrì, M., Buglisi, M., Garzaro, G., Squillacioti, G., . . . Barbero, F. (2022). A Biomonitoring Pilot Study in Workers from a Paints Production Plant Exposed to Pigment-Grade Titanium Dioxide (TiO2). Toxics, 10(4), 171.

Bernauer, U., Bodin, L., Chaudhry, Q., Coenraads, P. J., Dusinska, M., Gaffet, E., . . . Stepnik, M. (2021). The SCCS scientific advice on the safety of nanomaterials in cosmetics. Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology, 126, 105046.

Bessa, M. J., Brandão, F., Viana, M., Gomes, J. F., Monfort, E., Cassee, F. R., . . . Teixeira, J. P. (2020). Nanoparticle exposure and hazard in the ceramic industry: an overview of potential sources, toxicity and health effects. Environmental research, 184, 109297.

Bocca, B., Battistini, B., Leso, V., Fontana, L., Caimi, S., Fedele, M., & Iavicoli, I. (2023). Occupational Exposure to Metal Engineered Nanoparticles: A Human Biomonitoring Pilot Study Involving Italian Nanomaterial Workers. Toxics, 11(2), 120.

Boyes, W. K., Beach, B., Chan, G., Thornton, B. L. M., Harten, P., & Mortensen, H. M. (2022). An EPA database on the effects of engineered nanomaterials-NaKnowBase. Scientific Data, 9(1), 12.

Braakhuis, H. M., Murphy, F., Ma-Hock, L., Dekkers, S., Keller, J., Oomen, A. G., & Stone, V. (2021). An integrated approach to testing and assessment to support grouping and read-across of nanomaterials after inhalation exposure. Applied In Vitro Toxicology, 7(3), 112-128.

CEH & CPA. (2022). Standard for Food Service Ware—Single Use Version 1.1. In (pp. 1-60): Center for Environmental Health and Clean Production Action.

Cho, T. J., & Hackley, V. A. (2018). Assessing the chemical and colloidal stability of functionalized gold nanoparticles. NIST Special Publication, 1200, 26.

Di Cristo, L., Oomen, A. G., Dekkers, S., Moore, C., Rocchia, W., Murphy, F., . . . Stone, V. (2021). Grouping hypotheses and an integrated approach to testing and assessment of nanomaterials following oral ingestion. Nanomaterials, 11(10), 2623.

ECHA. (2019). Appendix for nanoforms applicable to the guidance on QSARs and Grouping of Chemicals : guidance on information requirements and chemical safety assessment. In: European Chemicals Agency.

ECHA. (2022a). Appendix for nanoforms applicable to the Guidance on Registration and Substance Identification. In (pp. 1-43): European Chemicals Agency.

ECHA. (2022b). Appendix R7-1 for nanomaterials applicable to Chapter R7a Endpoint specific guidance. In (pp. 1-81). Helsinki, Finland: ECHA.

ECHA. (2022c). Manufacturing of Engineered Nanmaterials. https://euon.echa.europa.eu/nanodata/sectors/manufacturing/overview/market

ECHA. (2022d). Study on (bio)degradation, persistence and safe by design of nanomaterials. In E. U. O. f. Nanomaterials (Ed.). Helsinki, Finland: European Chemicals Agency.

ECHA. (2023). Cosmetic Products Regulation, Annex III - Restricted Substances. European Union. https://echa.europa.eu/en/cosmetics-restrictedsubstances?p_p_id=eucleflegislationlist_WAR_euclefportlet&p_p_lifecycle=0

ECHA, J. (2016). Usage of (Eco) Toxicological Data for Bridging Data Gaps between and Grouping of Nanoforms of the Same Substance. In: ECHA Helsinki, Finland.

EFSA, More, S., Bampidis, V., Benford, D., Bragard, C., Halldorsson, T., . . . Lambré, C. (2021). Guidance on risk assessment of nanomaterials to be applied in the food and feed chain: Human and animal health. EFSA Journal, 19(8), e06768.

EFSA, Younes, M., Aquilina, G., Castle, L., Engel, K. H., Fowler, P., . . . Gürtler, R. (2021). Safety assessment of titanium dioxide (E171) as a food additive. EFSA Journal, 19(5), e06585.

EFSA, Younes, M., Aquilina, G., Castle, L., Engel, K. H., Fowler, P., . . . Husøy, T. (2019). Scientific opinion on the proposed amendment of the EU specifications for titanium dioxide (E 171) with respect to the inclusion of additional parameters related to its particle size distribution. EFSA Journal, 17(7), e05760.

EPA. (2007). Nanotechnology White Paper.

EPA. (2017). Chemical Substances When Manufactured or Processed as Nanoscale Materials: TSCA Reporting and Recordkeeping Requirements. In (Vol. 82, pp. 3641-3655). Federal Register: Environmental Protection Agency.

Erdely, A., Hulderman, T., Salmen, R., Liston, A., Zeidler-Erdely, P. C., Schwegler-Berry, D., . . . Endo, M. (2009). Cross-talk between lung and systemic circulation during carbon nanotube respiratory exposure. Potential biomarkers. Nano letters, 9(1), 36-43.

EU Commission. (2020). COMMISSION REGULATION (EU) 2020/878 of 18 June 2020 amending Annex II to Regulation (EC) No 1907/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council concerning the Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and Restriction of Chemicals (REACH). In (Vol. L 203/28, pp. 1-31): Official Journal of the European Union.

European Commission. (2021). Commission Recommendation of 16.12.2021 on the use of the Environmental Footprint methods to measure and communicate the lifecycle environmental performance of products and organisations. In (pp. 1-396). Brussels: Official Journal of the European Union.

Fernández-Cruz, M. L., Hernandez-Moreno, D., Catalán, J., Cross, R., Stockmann-Juvala, H., Cabellos, J., ... Izquierdo, J. J. (2018). Quality evaluation of human and environmental toxicity studies performed with nanomaterials-the GUIDEnano approach. Environmental Science: Nano, 5(2), 381-397.

FP7. (2023). eNanoMapper public database. https://euon.echa.europa.eu/enanomapper

Gavilán, H., Simeonidis, K., Myrovali, E., Mazarío, E., Chubykalo-Fesenko, O., Chantrell, R., . . . Serantes, D. (2021). How size, shape and assembly of magnetic nanoparticles give rise to different hyperthermia scenarios. Nanoscale, 13(37), 15631-15646.

Gilbertson, L. M., & Ng, C. A. (2016). Evaluating the Use of Alternatives Assessment to Compare Bulk Organic Chemical and Nanomaterial Alternatives to Brominated Flame Retardants. ACS Sustainable Chemistry & Engineering, 4(11), 6019-6030.

Greggs, W., Burns, T., Egeghy, P., Embry, M. R., Fantke, P., Gaborek, B., . . . Whittaker, M. (2019). Qualitative approach to comparative exposure in alternatives assessment. Integr Environ Assess Manag, 15(6), 880-894.

Guo, Z., Zhang, P., Chakraborty, S., Chetwynd, A. J., Abdolahpur Monikh, F., Stark, C., . . . Valsami-Jones, E. (2021). Biotransformation modulates the penetration of metallic nanomaterials across an artificial blood-brain barrier model. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 118(28), e2105245118.

Hansen, S. F., Baun, A., Tiede, K., Gottschalk, F., van der Meent, D., Peijnenburg, W., . . . Riediker, M. (2011). Consensus Report based on the NanoImpactNet workshop: Environmental fate and behaviour of nanoparticlesbeyond listing of limitations. Hansen, S. F., Jensen, K. A., & Baun, A. (2014). NanoRiskCat: a conceptual tool for categorization and communication of exposure potentials and hazards of nanomaterials in consumer products. Journal of nanoparticle research, 16, 1-25.

Hansen, S. F., & Lennquist, A. (2020). Carbon nanotubes added to the SIN List as a nanomaterial of Very High Concern. Nature Nanotechnology, 15(1), 3-4.

Hartmann, N. B., Ågerstrand, M., Lützhøft, H.-C. H., & Baun, A. (2017). NanoCRED: A transparent framework to assess the regulatory adequacy of ecotoxicity data for nanomaterials–Relevance and reliability revisited. NanoImpact, 6, 81-89.

Hjorth, R., Hansen, S. F., Jacobs, M., Tickner, J., Ellenbecker, M., & Baun, A. (2017). The applicability of chemical alternatives assessment for engineered nanomaterials. Integrated environmental assessment and management, 13(1), 177-187.

Hochella Jr, M. F., Mogk, D. W., Ranville, J., Allen, I. C., Luther, G. W., Marr, L. C., . . . Rosso, K. M. (2019). Natural, incidental, and engineered nanomaterials and their impacts on the Earth system. Science, 363(6434), eaau8299.

Hutchison, J. E. (2008). Greener nanoscience: a proactive approach to advancing applications and reducing implications of nanotechnology. ACS nano, 2(3), 395-402.

Höck J., Behra R., Bergamin L., Bourqui-Pittet M., Bosshard C., Epprecht T., . . . C., S. (2018). Guidelines on the Precautionary Matrix for Synthetic Nanomaterials. In (Vol. 3.1). Berne: Federal Office of Public Health and Federal Office for the Environment.

IARC. (2017). Some nanomaterials and some fibres. Working Group on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans.

ISO. (2008). International Organization for Standardization. Technical specification ISO/TS 27687:2008(E): Nanotechnologies Terminology and definitions for nano-objects—Nanoparticle, nanofibre and nanoplate. In.

ISO. (2019). ISO/TR 22019:2019 Nanotechnologies — Considerations for performing toxicokinetic studies with nanomaterials. In.

Janković, N. Z., & Plata, D. L. (2019). Engineered nanomaterials in the context of global element cycles. Environmental Science: Nano, 6(9), 2697-2711.

Jiménez, A. S., Puelles, R., Perez-Fernandez, M., Barruetabeña, L., Jacobsen, N. R., Suarez-Merino, B., ... Hischier, R. (2022). Safe (r) by design guidelines for the nanotechnology industry. NanoImpact, 25, 100385.

Jiménez, A. S., Puelles, R., Pérez-Fernández, M., Gómez-Fernández, P., Barruetabeña, L., Jacobsen, N. R., ... Trouiller, B. (2020). Safe (r) by design implementation in the nanotechnology industry. NanoImpact, 20, 100267.

Krishnan, V., & Mitragotri, S. (2020). Nanoparticles for topical drug delivery: Potential for skin cancer treatment. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 153, 87-108.

Kuempel, E. D., Jaurand, M.-C., Møller, P., Morimoto, Y., Kobayashi, N., Pinkerton, K. E., . . . Kane, A. B. (2017). Evaluating the mechanistic evidence and key data gaps in assessing the potential carcinogenicity of carbon nanotubes and nanofibers in humans. Critical reviews in toxicology, 47(1), 1-58.

Lamon, L., Asturiol, D., Richarz, A., Joossens, E., Graepel, R., Aschberger, K., & Worth, A. (2018). Grouping of nanomaterials to read-across hazard endpoints: from data collection to assessment of the grouping hypothesis by application of chemoinformatic techniques. Particle and fibre toxicology, 15(1), 1-17.

Larsen, P. B., Christophersen, D. V., & Andersen, D. N. (2019). The applicability of the GHS classification criteria to nanomaterials. In (pp. 1-115). Copenhagen: Nordisk Council of Ministers.

Lee, N., Lim, C. H., Kim, T., Son, E. K., Chung, G. S., Rho, C. J., . . . Yu, I. J. (2017). Which hazard category should specific nanomaterials or groups of nanomaterials be assigned to and how. Geneva: World Health Organization, 1-56.

Li, Z., Hulderman, T., Salmen, R., Chapman, R., Leonard, S. S., Young, S.-H., . . . Simeonova, P. P. (2007). Cardiovascular effects of pulmonary exposure to single-wall carbon nanotubes. Environmental health perspectives, 115(3), 377-382.

Lynch, I., Afantitis, A., Exner, T., Himly, M., Lobaskin, V., Doganis, P., . . . Rybinska-Fryca, A. (2020). Can an InChI for nano address the need for a simplified representation of complex nanomaterials across experimental and nanoinformatics studies? Nanomaterials, 10(12), 2493.

Meesters, J., Peijnenburg, W., Hendriks, A., Van de Meent, D., & Quik, J. (2019). A model sensitivity analysis to determine the most important physicochemical properties driving environmental fate and exposure of engineered nanoparticles. Environmental Science: Nano, 6(7), 2049-2060.

Mercer, R. R., Scabilloni, J. F., Hubbs, A. F., Wang, L., Battelli, L. A., McKinney, W., . . . Porter, D. W. (2013). Extrapulmonary transport of MWCNT following inhalation exposure. Particle and fibre toxicology, 10(1), 1-14.

Murphy, F., Dekkers, S., Braakhuis, H., Ma-Hock, L., Johnston, H., Janer, G., . . . Oomen, A. G. (2021). An integrated approach to testing and assessment of high aspect ratio nanomaterials and its application for grouping based on a common mesothelioma hazard. NanoImpact, 22, 100314.

National Research Council. (2014). A framework to guide selection of chemical alternatives.

Nielsen, M. B., Baun, A., Mackevica, A., Thit, A., Wallinder, I. O., Gallego, J. A., . . . Nilsson, A. C. (2021). Nanomaterials in the European chemicals legislation-methodological challenges for registration and environmental safety assessment. Environmental Science: Nano, 8(3), 731-747.

Nike. (2022). Nike, Inc. Chemistry Playbook & Restricted Substances List. In (pp. 1-122).

NIOSH, Hodson, L., & Eastlake, A. (2022). Occupational exposure sampling for engineered nanomaterials. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, DHHS (NIOSH) Publication No. 2022-153.

NIST. (2023). SRM NIST Standard Reference Materials® 2023 Catalog. In (Vol. SP 260-176, pp. 1-128).

Nurkiewicz, T. R., Porter, D. W., Hubbs, A. F., Cumpston, J. L., Chen, B. T., Frazer, D. G., & Castranova, V. (2008). Nanoparticle inhalation augments particle-dependent systemic microvascular dysfunction. Particle and fibre toxicology, 5, 1-12.

OECD. (2015). Guidance Manual Towards the Integration of Risk Assessment into Life Cycle Assessment of Nano-enabled Applications. In E. Directorate (Ed.), ENV/JM/MONO(2015)30 (Vol. ENV/JM/MONO(2015)30, pp. 1-78): Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development.

OECD. (2017). Test No. 318: Dispersion Stability of Nanomaterials in Simulated Environmental Media. https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264284142-en

OECD. (2018). Case Study on Grouping and Read-Across for Nanomaterials - Genotoxicity of Nano-TiO2. In H. a. S. P. Environment, S. o. T. a. Assessment, & N. 292 (Eds.), (Vol. ENV/JM/MONO(2018)28, pp. 1-56): Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development.

OECD. (2019). Physical-Chemical Decision Framework to inform Decisions for Risk Assessment of Manufactured Nanomaterials. In (Vol. ENV/JM/MONO(2019)12, pp. 1-44). Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development.

OECD. (2021a). Evaluation of Tools and Models for Assessing Occupational and Consumer Exposure to Manufactured Nanomaterials. In (Vol. ENV/CBC/MONO(2021)27, pp. 1-155): Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development.

OECD. (2021b). Evaluation of Tools and Models Used for Assessing Environmental Exposure to Manufactured Nanomaterials Functional Assessment and Statistical Analysis of Nano-Specific Environmental Exposure Tools and Models. In ENV/CBC/MONO(2021)23 (Vol. ENV/CBC/MONO(2021)23, pp. 1-110): Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development.

OECD. (2021c). Guidance on Key Considerations for the Identification and Selection of Safer Chemical Alternatives (OECD Series on Risk Management, No. 60, Issue.

OECD. (2022a). Guidance Document on the Aquatic and Sediment Toxicological Testing of Nanomaterials. In (Vol. ENV/JM/MONO(2020)8, pp. 1-66): Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development.

OECD. (2022b). Important Issues on Risk Assessment of Manufactured Nanomaterials. In Working Party on Manufactured Nanomaterials (Ed.), (Vol. Series on the Safety of Manufactured Nanomaterials No. 103, pp. 1-90). Paris: Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development.

OECD. (2023a). Guidelines for the Testing of Chemicals, Section 1. In.

OECD. (2023b). Testing Programme of Manufactured Nanomaterials -Overview

OEHHA. (2018). Titanium Dioxide (airborne, unbound particles of respirable size). In (pp. 1-2): Proposition 65 Warnings, Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment.

Oomen, A. G., Steinhäuser, K. G., Bleeker, E. A., van Broekhuizen, F., Sips, A., Dekkers, S., . . . Sayre, P. G. (2018). Risk assessment frameworks for nanomaterials: Scope, link to regulations, applicability, and outline for future directions in view of needed increase in efficiency. NanoImpact, 9, 1-13.

Organization, W. H. (2017). WHO guidelines on protecting workers from potential risks of manufactured nanomaterials. World Health Organization.

Potter, P. M., Navratilova, J., Rogers, K. R., & Al-Abed, S. R. (2019). Transformation of silver nanoparticle consumer products during simulated usage and disposal. Environmental Science: Nano, 6(2), 592-598.

Pourzahedi, L., Pandorf, M., Ravikumar, D., Zimmerman, J. B., Seager, T. P., Theis, T. L., . . . Lowry, G. V. (2018). Life cycle considerations of nano-enabled agrochemicals: are today's tools up to the task? Environmental Science: Nano, 5(5), 1057-1069.

Rasmussen, K., González, M., Kearns, P., Sintes, J. R., Rossi, F., & Sayre, P. (2016). Review of achievements of the OECD Working Party on Manufactured Nanomaterials' Testing and Assessment Programme. From exploratory testing to test guidelines. Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology, 74, 147-160.

Rasmussen, K., Mast, J., De Temmerman, P., Verleysen, E., Waegeneers, N., & Van Steen, F. (2014). Titanium Dioxide, NM-100, NM-101, NM-102, NM-103, NM-104, NM-105: characterisation and physico-chemical properties (JRC). EUR—Scientific and Technical Research Reports. In (Vol. EUR 26637): European Comission.

Ribalta, C., Viana, M., López-Lilao, A., Estupiñá, S., Minguillón, M. C., Mendoza, J., . . . Monfort, E. (2019). On the relationship between exposure to particles and dustiness during handling of powders in industrial settings. Annals of Work Exposures and Health, 63(1), 107-123.

Rittinghausen, S., Hackbarth, A., Creutzenberg, O., Ernst, H., Heinrich, U., Leonhardt, A., & Schaudien, D. (2014). The carcinogenic effect of various multi-walled carbon nanotubes (MWCNTs) after intraperitoneal injection in rats. Particle and fibre toxicology, 11(1), 1-18.

Salieri, B., Turner, D. A., Nowack, B., & Hischier, R. (2018). Life cycle assessment of manufactured nanomaterials: where are we? NanoImpact, 10, 108-120.

Sargent, L. M., Porter, D. W., Staska, L. M., Hubbs, A. F., Lowry, D. T., Battelli, L., . . . Bauer, A. K. (2014). Promotion of lung adenocarcinoma following inhalation exposure to multi-walled carbon nanotubes. Particle and fibre toxicology, 11(1), 1-18.

Sass, J., Heine, L., & Hwang, N. (2016). Use of a modified GreenScreen tool to conduct a screening-level comparative hazard assessment of conventional silver and two forms of nanosilver. Environmental health, 15, 1-11.

SCCS. Preliminary Opinions open for comments. EU Commission. https://health.ec.europa.eu/scientific-committees/scientific-committee-consumer-safety-sccs/sccs-opinions_en

SCCS. (2023a). Guidance on the Safety Assessment of Nanomaterials in Cosmetics: 2nd revision. In (pp. 1-147). Luxembourg: European Union.

SCCS. (2023b). The SCCS Notes of Guidance for the Testing of Cosmetic Ingredients and their Safety Evaluation: 12th Revision. In (Vol. SCCS/1647/22, pp. 1-203): European Commission.

Schwirn, K., Volker, D., Haase, A., Tentschert, J., Bernauer, U., Packroff, R., & Bachmann, V. (2021). Risk Governance of Advanced Materials. In (pp. 1-57). Germany: German Environment Agency.

Stone, V., Gottardo, S., Bleeker, E. A., Braakhuis, H., Dekkers, S., Fernandes, T., . . . Jantunen, P. (2020). A framework for grouping and read-across of nanomaterials-supporting innovation and risk assessment. Nano Today, 35, 100941.

Svendsen, C., Walker, L. A., Matzke, M., Lahive, E., Harrison, S., Crossley, A., . . . Vázquez-Campos, S. (2020). Key principles and operational practices for improved nanotechnology environmental exposure assessment. Nature nanotechnology, 15(9), 731-742.

Tran, C., Hankin, S., Ross, B., Aitken, R., Jones, A., Donaldson, K., . . . Trantra, R. (2008). An outline scoping study to determine whether high aspect ratio nanoparticles (HARN) should raise the same concerns as do asbestos fibres. Report on project CB0406.

Temizel-Sekeryan, Sila, and Andrea L. Hicks. "Global environmental impacts of silver nanoparticle production methods supported by life cycle assessment." Resources, conservation and recycling 156 (2020): 104676.

UNECE. (2019). Globally Harmonized System of Classification and Labelling of Chemicals (GHS) Eighth revised edition In (pp. 1-570). New York and Geneva: United Nations.

Valsami-Jones, E., & Lynch, I. (2015). How safe are nanomaterials? Science, 350(6259), 388-389.

Visser, M., Gosens, I., Bard, D., van Broekhuizen, P., Janer, G., Kuempel, E., . . . Dekkers, S. (2022). Towards health-based nano reference values (HNRVs) for occupational exposure: Recommendations from an expert panel. NanoImpact, 26, 100396.

WAP. (2021). GreenScreen® Chemical Assessment: Titanium Dioxide (13463-67-7). In (pp. 1-51): WAP Sustainability Consulting LLC.

WHO. (2017). WHO guidelines on protecting workers from potential risks of manufactured nanomaterials. World Health Organization.

Washington State Department of Ecology. (2022). Regulatory Determinations Report to the Legislature: Safer Products for Washington Cycle 1 Implementation Phase 3 (Publication 22-04-018). https://apps.ecology.wa.gov/publications/documents/2204018.pdf

Wu, D., Kusada, K., Nanba, Y., Koyama, M., Yamamoto, T., Toriyama, T., . . Kim, J. (2022). Noble-metal highentropy-alloy nanoparticles: atomic-level insight into the electronic structure. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 144(8), 3365-3369.